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CHAPTER V.
THE TERRITORIES OF AUSTRALIA.

Nore.—The internal Territories of Australia are the Northern Territory and the
Australian Capital Territory. External Territories under the control of Australia are :—
Norfolk Island ; Papua (formerly British New Guinea); the Territory of New Guinea
(under Trusteeship Agreement with the United Nations); Nauru (under Trusteeship
Agreement with the United Nations) ; The Territory of Heard and McDonald Islands ;
the Australian Antarctic Territory ; and the Territory of Ashmore and Cartier Islands.
Information on all except Ashmore and Cartier Islands is contained in the following pages,
and details of the acquisition of all the Territories will be found on pp. 5~7 of this issue.

THE NORTHERN TERRITORY.
§ 1. Area and Population.

1. Area.—Upon the extension of New South Wales westward to the 129th meridian
in 1825, the Northern Territory was incorporated in that colony, but in 1863 was
annexed by Royal Letters Patent to the province of South Australia. With the
adjacent islands, it was transferred to the Commonwealth on 1st January, 1911. The
total area is 523,620 square miles, or 335,116,800 acres—about six times as large as
Victoria.

2. Population.—(i) Population excluding Full-blood Aboriginals. At the Census of
3oth June, 1954 the population of the Northern Territory, excluding full-blood aboriginals,
was 10,305 niales, 6,184 females, 16,489 persons. Corresponding figures. at the Census
of 3oth June, 1947 were, respectively, 7,378, 3,490 and 10,868.

The white population of the Northern Territory increased slowly from 670 at the
Census of 1881 to 3,767 in 1918. By 1921 it had decreased to 2,459, and in 1933 was
only 3,306, At the Census of 1947 it had risen to 9,116, an increase of 176 per cent. on the
1933 figures.

Althotigh at one time there were more than 4,000 Chinese in the Territory, at 3oth
June, 1947 there were only 250, these comprising the major proportion of the 388 full-
blood non-European population, excluding Australian aboriginals, at that date.

The half-caste population recorded at the Census of 1947 numbered 1,364, of whom
1,247 were half-caste Australian aboriginals. Corresponding figures at the 1933 Census
were, respectively, 8oo and 743.

(ii) The Aboriginals. The total number of full-blood aboriginals at 30th June, 1953
was estimated at 13,490, of whom approximately 3,224 (2,363 males and 861 females)
were in regular employment. By virtue of Aboriginals Ordinance No. 2z of 1953, part
aboriginals are not now deemed to be aboriginals within the meaning of the Aboriginals
Ordinance 1918-1953, except children who were committed to institutions prior to the
commencement of the ordinance and those who have requested the Director of Native
Affairs to declare them aboriginals within the meaning of the ordinance. The total
number of such persons is approximately 430. There are sixteen “ aboriginal ” reserves,
comprising an area of approximately 68,288 square miles. (See also Chapter IX.—
Population.)



g6 CHAPTER V.—THE TERRITORIES OF AUSTRALIA.

§ 2. Legislation and Administration.

On 1st Januvary, 1911 the Territory was transferred by South Australia to the
Commonwealth. The terms are outlined in Official Year Book No. 15, p. 940. For
particulars of the administration up to the Northern Territory (Administration) Act
1931, when it was placed in the hands of an Administrator, residing at Darwin, see
Official Year Book No. 38 and earlier issues.

The Northern Territory (Administration) Act 1947 enabled the Northern Territory
to set up a Legislative Council. The Council consists of the Administrator and seven
official and six elected members who make ordinances for the Territory, which must be
submitted to the Administrator for assent. The Administrator may, or may not, assent
to them, or he may reserve them for the Governor-General. The Goverpor-General
may also disallow any ordinance assented to by the Administrator within six months
from the date of assent, and the operation of ordinances relating to certain land or
pecunjary transactions or to aboriginal affairs are dependent on his approval. Money
votes may be proposed in the Council only by the Administrator himself, or by his
permission or direction.

The Territory elects a member to the House of Representatives, who was granted
the right to take part in debates but not to vote, except on a motion for the disallowance
of any ordinance of the Northern Territory or on any amendment of any such motion.
However, the power of the Federal Parliament to disallow ordinances was repealed by
the Northern Territory (Administration) Act 1947 referred to above.

§ 3. Physicgraphy.

1. Tropical ‘Nature of the Country.—The Territory is within the torrid zone, with
the exception of a strip 2% degrees wide which lies south of the Tropic of Capricorn.

2. Contour and Physical Characteristics.—The low flat coast-line seldom reaches
& height of 100 feet. Sandy beaches and mud flats, thickly fringed with mangroves,
prevail. Sandstone, marl and ironstone form the occasional cliffy headlands. The sea
frontage of more than 1,000 miles is indented by bays and inlets and intersected by
numerous rivers, many of which are navigable for considerable distances from their
estuaries. :

The principal features of the coast-line are enumerated in Official Year Book No. 1,
p. 66 ; the rivers in No. 2, p. 76; the mountains in No. 3, p. 67; the lakes in No. 4,
pp. 77, 78 ; the islands in No. 5, pp. 71, 72; and the mineral springs in No. 6, p. 65.

Inland, the country generally is destitute of conspicuous landmarks. From the
coast there is a geperal rise southwards to the vicinity of the 17th or 18th parallel of
south latitude, where the higher lands form the watershed between the rivers that flow
northwards to the sea and those that form the scanty supply of the interior systems.
Towards the centre of the continent the land over a wide area is of considerable elevation,
and there are several mountain ranges, generally with an east and west trend.

§ 4. Climate, Fauna and Flora.

1. The Seasons.—There are two main climatic divisions—the wet season, November
to April, and the dry season, May to October, with uniform and regular changes of
weather. Nearly the whole of the rainfall occurs in the summer months. Further
particulars appear in Official Year Book No. 6, p. 1116,

2, Fauna,—The ordinary types of native Australian fauna inhabit the Territory.
As elsewhere on the continent, the higher Theria are rare, but marsupials, birds,
crocodiles, fresh-water tortoises, snakes (mostly non-venomous) and frogs abound.
There are many varieties of fresh-water fish and littoral mollusca. Butterflies and
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beetles are strongly represented. The white ant is a pest, anthills in the Territory
sometimes attaining great dimensions. Mosquitoes and sandflies are very troublesome,
particularly in the wet season. Native fauna are in some cases protected. Buffalo
formerly existed ir large herds, but their number has been greatly reduced by indis-
criminate shooting. Buffalo shooting is now controlled.

3. Flora.—The vegetation is North Australian in type, but a number of the forms
belong to the Malayan and Oceanic regions. The timber trees are not of great commercial
value, but in the coastal regions tropical vegetation grows luxuriantly to the water’s
edge. In the north, cypress pine, bloodwood and paperbark timbers are now cut and
milled for local building purposes. These three timbers are resistant to termites. On
the wide expanses of plain country in the interior there is little vegetation, the principal
orders represented being :—FEuphorbiaceae, Compositae, Convolvulaceae, Rubiaceae,
Goodenoviaceae, Leguminosae, Utricaceae.

More detailed particulars regarding fauna and flora are given in Official Year Book
No. 6, pp. 1116-7.

§ 5. Production.

1. Agriculture.—Up to the present, agriculture has made little progress in the
Territory, although it has been proved that rice, tobacco, coconuts, mangoes, bananas,
cotton, various fodder plants, and peanuts can be successfully grown. Expense of
harvesting is, at present, an obstacle to the economic production of rice, and until
labour-saving machinery is employed it cannot be produced with profit. There is a large
stretch of first-class coconut land on the coast, but so far planting has not been attempted
on a commercial scale. For the encouragement of primary production a Primary Pro-
ducers’ Board was established in 1931. Since the end of the 193945 War, returned
gervicemen and others have had some success growing vegetables, fruit and other crops
in the Darwin area and also as far south as Katherine, Vegetables grown were of con-
sistently good quality and found ready local markets. In 1949 a group of Quecnsland
farmers began an experiment in large-scale sorghum growing near Newcastle Waters,.
but the experiment has been unsuccessful in its early seasons.

During 1952 a Growers’ Co-operative Market was established in Darwin, providing
a regular supply of local fruit and vegetables. This venture is at present prospering.
Bananas and beans in season have been supplied regularly to southern markets within
the limits of aircraft backloading space. The 1952 peanut harvest was very profitable
to most Daly River farmers but gave poor returns in the Katherine area. In June,
1952 field work began on Government experimental plots in the Darwin area and in
January, 1953 an experimental base at Katherine was established. Pineapples,
tohacco, rice, peanuts and grain sorghum are the main crops under trial. It has already
been established that these crops can be grown successfully. The cxperiments aim at
widening the soil range and investigating the possibilities of economic production.

2. Pastoral Industry.—The pastoral possibilities of certain parts of the Northern
Territory were recognized at an early date, and in 1866 stock was brought into the
Macdonnell Range country from South Australia. Six years later cattle were moved
from Queensland to the northern parts of the Territory, and in 1879 Giles reached
the Katherine River with 2,000 head of cattle and 12,000 sheep from South Australia.
For various reasons sheep-raising did not succeed. The cattle industry, however,
progressed steadily and development of stock routes and other plans for the expansion
of the industry are continuing.

Cattle exported during 1952—53 numbered 81,367—32,568 to Queensland, 42,149
to South Australia, and 6,650 to Western Australia. Importations of live stock were :—
bulls, 700; other cattle, 7,587 ; stallions, 2; other horses, 475; rams, 1I5; other
sheep, 3,114.
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The estimated number of livestock in the Territory at the end of the years 1939
and 1949 to 1953 is given in the table hereunder :—

NORTHERN TERRITORY : LIVESTOCK.

- ]
315t December— | Horscs. |  Cattle. Sheep. Pigs. Goats. | Camels. |Donkeys.| Mules.

|
1939 .. - 33,721 922,581 138,587 | 483 | 20,335 | 331 | 1,443 | 366
1949 .. .+ 32,904 | 1,048,875 | 25,725 419 | 12,102 165 935 466
1950 .. .. 129,366 | 1,010,149 |28,888 | 1,122 {12,329 o4 918 603

1951 .. .+ 132,519 | 1,057,906 |30,035 | 794 | 10,520 98 | 1,180 | 603
1952 .. .. |34,645 935,602 133,773 799 | 11,861 100 873 546
1953 .. -+ 136,985 | 966,033 |31,232 | 1,132 | 12,502 53 | T475 | 626

3. Hides and Skins,—The number of hides and skins exported from the Northern
Territory during 1952-53 was as follows :—buffalo, 14,810; sheep, 2,093 ; crocodile,
706 ; and cattle, 5,482. In addition, a considerable number of kangaroo skins were
exported, but details are not available.

4. Mining.—Alluvial gold digging in the Northern Territory commenced in 1869
and in 1881 maximum production was achieved when the yearly return was valued at
£111,945. The value of minerals produced in the Territory in 1952 was an all-time
record, and for the first time exceeded £1,000,000. The main mineral was gold, most
of which was won at Tennant Creek and the majority from one mine ‘Noble’s Nob™,
Three batteries are operated by companies on this field, which is noted for its rich patches
of ore. The value of wolfram production increased, mainly at Hatches Creek, where a
Government-owned treatment plant is in operation. The Harts Range Mica Field
continues to produce the bulk of Australian high grade mica. Tin concentrates were
produced at Maranboy, where a Government-owned treatment plant is in operation. A
uranium project was developed at Rum Jungle by the Department of Supply, and handed
over to a private company to work as agents for the Commonwealth. Regional surveys
were conducted in various parts of the Territory by officers of the Bureau of Mineral
Resources. Some leases in addition to Ruin Jungle have been granted and are now in
course of development.

The following table shows the value of mineral production for the years 1948 to 1952
compared with 1939 :—

N'ORTHERN TERRITORY : MINERAL PRODUCTION.

(£)
Tin - : Total

Year. Gold. | Concen-| Ochre. C(());;ger Mica. ‘:a%llf' gﬁ?é Slle]: sr- Value all
| trates. : * . ° | Minerals.

)
1939 .. .. [ 163,414 1 4,487 607 | 2,248 | 15,539 | 58,183 .- .- 244,478
1948 .. .. |163,482 | 12,055 | 2,374 | 7.370 | 75,796 ; 30,780 814 | 1,407 | 294,078
1949 .. .. | 369,027 | 10,138 501 | 145,839 | 52,014 | 20,521 | 240 973 | 599,233
1950 .. .. [ 543,121 | 15,139 4,199 | 56,741 | 61,813 | 25,647 520 883 | 708,063
1951 .. .. | 603,313 | 22,446 797 | 44,409 | 59,084 | 257,164 260 .. 987,473
1952 .. . | 737,153 10,142 .. 130,700 { 91,725 | 412,772 . . 1,386,061a

(a) Includes limestone, £1,930 ; silver, £1,639.

5. Pearl and Other Fisheries.—In 1884, mother-of-peari-shell was discovered in the
harbour of Port Darwin. Since that time the areas fished have extended to the various
banks to seaward and coastwise along the Northern Territory coast. Production of shell
has varied considerably, year by year, since the war, but since 1950 has shown a decided
increase :—1949—40 tons, value, £18,000; 1950—40 tons, value, £20,000; 1951—86
tong, value, £60,200 ; 1952—116 tons, value, £63,800 ; 1953—166 tons, value, £116,200.

The 1954 season was fished by eleven vessels compared with ten for 1953. The
price of shell still remains high, £700 a ton for good grade shell being the average for
1953.

Darwin continues to provide a firm and ready market for fish, but supplies are some-
what irregular.
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§ 6. Land Tenure.

1. General.—A description of the system of land tenure in force in the Territory in
1928 is given in Official Year Book No. 22, Chapter V.—Land Tenure and Settlement.
It was revised in Official Year Book No. 39, pp. 329-30, and Chapter IV.—Land Tenure
and Settlement of this issue contains statistical information on the subject.

Almost half the land in the Northern Territory is reserved, or unoccupied and
unreserved, the remainder, apart from a very small proportion alienated, being held
under various forms of lease and licence, which are described briefly below and in more
detail in Official Year Book No. 39, pp. 329-30.

2. Pastoral, Agricultural, etc., Leases.~—Pastoral Leases—granted for periods not
exceeding 50 years.

Pastoral Homestead Leases—granted in perpetuity but are available only to persons
who intend to reside bona fide on the leased land. Firms or companies are incapable of
holding this type of lease.

Agricultural Leases—granted in perpetuity, with area for any one lease limited
according to type of farm (Cultivation Farms, Class 1, 1,280 acres, Class 2, 2,560 acres;
Mixed Farming and Grazing, Class 1, 12,800 acres, Class 2, 38,400 acres).

Leases of Town Lands—except in Darwin, granted in perpetuity (in Darwin granted
for periods up to 99 years).

Miscellaneous Leases—granted for any prescribed or approved purpose, for periods
not exceeding 21 years.

@razing Licences—granted to graze stock on Crown lands for periods not exceeding
one year.

Occupation Licences—granted for manufacturing, industrial or any prescribed
purposes, for periods not exceeding 5 years.

Miscellaneous Licences—granted for periods not exceeding 12 months.

Leases to Aboriginals—granted for areas not exceeding 160 acres each for any period
of years upon such terms and conditions as thought fit.

The foregoing leases and licences are granted at specified rentals or rentals fixed by
the Administrator and subject to re-appraisement, and under various prescribed or
specified conditions.

3. Mining Leases, etc.—Holdings under Miners’ Rights—entitling holder, for a fee of
5s. for 12 months from date of issue, to occupy Crown lands for mining and to carry out
works thereon,

Qold-mining Leases—granted for a period of 21 years, renewable for a further 21
years, for areas not exceeding 20 acres each, at an annual rent of 2s. per acre and with
payment of a royalty of 3d. in the £1.

Mineral Leases—granted in blocks not exceeding 40 acres each, at an annual rent
of 18, per acre, with term and renewal and royalty as for gold-mining leases.

Dredging Claims-—granted for gold or minerals claims, the area not exceeding 300
acres each, at an annual rent of 2s. per acre.

Mineral Oil and Coal Licences—granted to search for mineral oil and/or coal over
an area not exceeding 1,000 square miles for a period of 5 years, at an annual fee of £10,
with preferential rights to lease if payable quantities are discovered and a reward area
also in respect of oil.

Mineral Oil and Coal Leases—granted for a period of 21 years, renewable for a further
21 years, for mining areas not exceeding 160 acres each for mineral oil and 640 acres for
coal, at an annual rent of 1s. per acre, and royalty of 5 per cent. for oil and fixed by
regulation in the case of coal.

Business and Residence Areas—granted at the preseribed fee, authorizing the holder
to occupy on a gold or mineral field an area not exceeding one acre for residence and
carrying on business (one-quarter of an acre if for residence only).

Garden Areas—granted under prescribed conditions, on a gold or mineral field for
growing fruit or other garden produce, the area of each garden not exceeding 5 acres.

There are various conditions regarding working, employment and value of machinery
used, which apply to the foregoing leases and licences.
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§ 7. Trade, Transport and Communication.

1. Trade.—No record is kept of the trade between the States and the Territory.
Direct oversea imports amounted to £34,000 in 1938—30. In the post-war years 1945-46
t0 1948-49 they averaged about £200,000 a year, but in the three years 195031 to 1952-53
the average was about £620,000 a year. Direct oversea exports amounted to £13,000 in
1938-39 and are still relatively small—£35,000 in 1925-53.

2. Shipping.—The Territory is dependent for its shipping facilities on a visit every
two months by a ship of the Australian Shipping Board from the eastern States and a
monthly service from Western Australia by ships of the Western Australian State Shipping
Service. An oversea tanker visits Darwin quarterly with supplies of aircraft fuel and
other petroleum products. During the post-war years up to 1951~52 oversea and inter-
state shipping averaged about 30 entrances and 50,000 net tons a year ; during 1952-53,
39 vessels used the port with a corresponding increase in tonnage. Figures for pre-war
years were between two and three times greater.

3. Alr Services.—Darwin, a first class international airport, is the first port of arrival
in Australia for virtually all aireraft from Ewrope and Asia. Qantas Empire Airways
Ltd. (under contract to the Commonwealth Government) operates, through Darwin, a
Sydney-Singapore-London passenger and freight service ; a Sydney—Hong Kong-Japan
service; and a Sydney-Manila-Japan service. British Overseas Airways Corporation
operates a London-Singapore-Sydney service, and Australian National Airways,
in conjunction with Air-Ceylon, operates a service to London. Both these services also
call at Darwin. Regular inland services calling at Darwin are Trans-Australia Airlines
(Adelaide--Darwin and Brisbane—Darwin), MacRobertson-Miller Aviation, which runs
regular services between Darwin and Perth, and Darwin and Wyndham, and Connellan
Airways, which operates services between Alice Springs, Wyndham, Borroloola, Katherine
and the Queensland border. From Darwin the Aerial Medical Service operates two
aircraft and the North Australian Airways local charter flights. An aero club with head-
quarters at the airport also operates.

4. Railways,—Under the agreement made between the Commonwealth and the
State of South Australia for the transfer of the Northern Territory, which was ratified
by the Northern Territory Acceptance Act 1910, the Commonwealth was to construct
the Northern Territory portion of the transcontinental railway line (connecting Adelaide
and Darwin via Port Augusta). ’

The northern line from Adelaide terminates at Alice Springs, about 192 miles north
of the southern boundary of the Territory. The Commonwealth Government acquired,
on 18t January, 1911, the property in the line from Port Augusta to Oodnadatta
(478 miles), and on 1st January, 1926 the control thereof was transferred to the Com-
monwealth Railways Commissioner. The extension to Alice Springs (293 miles) was
opened for traffic in 1929. The line from Darwin to Pine Creek, about 146 miles, was
extended to Katherine River (200 miles from Darwin) in 1917, and as far as Birdum (316
miles from Darwin) in 1929.

The Clapp plan for the standardization of Australian railways recommended, snter
alia, the construction of a standard gauge (4 ft. 8% in.) strategic and developmental
railway between Dajarra (Queensland) and Birdum, and the conversion to standard
gauge of the Birdum-Darwin line, but not the conversion of the Port Augusta—Alice
Springs line nor the construction of a 4 ft. 84 in. line between Alice Springs and Birdum.
Provisior for both of the last two projects, however, was included in an agreement with
South Australia enacted in 1949.

It was agreed by the Governments of the Commonwealth and South Australia in
1950 that a standard gauge railway from Stirling North to Leigh Creek coalfields (157
miles) should be constructed. This is now under construction and is regarded as the
first step in the ultimate provision of a standard gauge railway betweep Port Augusta
and Alice Springs.

. 5. Roads.—During the war, roads were built connecting Alice Springs with Darwin,
and Mount Isa (Queensland) with Tennant Creek. The first of these roads, known as
the North-South Road or Stuart Highway, is 954 miles long, and runs via Larrimah
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and Tennant Creek. The Mount Isa-Tennant Creeck Road (Barkly Highway) is 403
miles long. Both were used extensively during the war, the Stuart Highway, in
particular, experiencing very heavy and continuous traffic. Since the war, the Stuart
Highway has been used continuzlly as a means of transporting foodstuffs and other
supplies to Darwin and northern centres, and is now the main route for overland
tourists and travellers from the southern States to Darwin. Both roads have good
water bores and communications. There are now 12,394 miles of road in the Territory.

6. Posts, Telegraphs, Telephones and Wiseless.—Postal communication is maintained
by road and rail transport between Darwin and the capital cities of Australia. In
addition, the vessels belonging to the Western Australian State Shipping Service give a
regular service between Fremantle and Darwin. Mail is also carried between the capital
oities of Australia and Darwin by the airway companies operating in cach State. Inland,
the northern part of the Territory receives its mail via Darwin or by means of the
aerial services, and the southern districts are served via Adelaide.

The transcontinental telegraph line, covering a length of 2,230 miles, runs in a
northerly direction from Adelaide to Darwin, and provides telegraphic communication
between Darwin and other parts of the world.

Long-distance telephone communication is established between Darwin and the
other capital cities of Australia, and oversea telephone communication through Sydney
is also available.

Regional national broadcasting stations are situated at Darwin and Alice Springs.
The majority of homesteads on pastoral leases are equipped with pedal wireless sets
operated under licence from the Postmaster-General's Department. These stations
are in daily communication with Flying Doctor Bases situated at Alice Springs (Northern
Territory), Wyndham (Western Australia) and Cloncurry (Queensland), and are used
for transmission of radio-telegrams and other communications.

§ 8. Education.

1. General.—The South Australian Education Department provides teachers end
determines the curriculum for all schools in the Northern Territory with the exception
of pre-school kindergartens and schools for full-blood aboriginal children. An officer
of the South Australian Education Department is on loan to the Northern Territory
Administration. This officer, designated the Assistant Supervisor of Education, Northern
Territory Schools, works in cloge co-operation with the Administration.

The number of teachers at 3oth June, 1953 in schools catering for white and part-
aboriginal children was 48, all officers of the South Australian Education Department.

The number of pupils under instruction in departmental schools on 3oth June,
1953 was 1,459, of whom 1,306 were in the primary section, while the number of children
in convent schools at 3oth June, 1953 was 393, including 32 post-primary pupils.

Facilities have been provided in schools at Alice Springs and Darwin for instruction
to Leaving (Matriculation) standard in general and commercial courses and also in craft
subjects. Students sit for the examinations (Intermediate and Leaving) of the Public
Examination Board, University of Adelaide. Six exhibitions are offered annually on the
results of the Intermediate examinations. These exhibitions carry a subsistence allowance
of £50 a year, £5 for books, and return fares between home and school once a year, and are
tenable for two years at any approved secondary school in Australia.

New schools at Darwin and Alice Springs have been completed. Part of the new
Darwin school was occupied by infant grades in February, 1953, and the remainder in
February, 1954. Plans have been prepared for surfacing and beautifying part of the
grounds. The total enrolment at the Darwin school on 30th June, 1953, was 799 including
103 secondary students. Consideration is being given to building a separate technical
high school in Darwin, and a site has been set aside in the town plan for this purpose.
Because of the scattered nature of Darwin, transport is provided for school children and
more than 670 children are taken to school every day in government buses. At Alice
Springs, 147 children are carried to and from school each day.
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Alice Springs has established itself as the educational centre for a large part of the
Northern Territory. More than one hundred and sixty children from outback areas are
accommodated at hostels provided by Methodist, Church of England and Roman Catholic
organizations. A boarding allowance of £40 a year for each child is paid by the Com-
monwealth Government to assist parents to keep their children at school, and the
Government also makes a contribution towards children’s return fares between home
and school each term.

The construction of a new school at Alice Springs was commenced in August, 1952,
and it was expected that the school would be fully occupied by February, r9s55. A
well-equipped woodwork room, and other practical rooms providing for the teaching of
sheet-metal work, domestic arts and science are included. A fine library is also provided.

A new school comprising two Hawksley buildings, was opened at the Mission Settle-
ment on Croker Island in February 1953, and caters for part-aboriginal children ranging
from infants to Intermediate standard. Enrolments at Croker Island School on 30th
June, 1953, were 56. A new three-roomed school was also opened at Batchelor in
September, 1953, and enrolments since then have increased to 50 pupils. Both schools
have been built on tropical lines, and domestic arts and woodwork are being taught at
Croker Island.

For the year ended 30th June, 1953, 108 primary and 5 secondary pupils received
instruction from the Correspondence School of South Australia.

A pre-school kindergarten is functioning at Alice Springs, and there are three centres
in Darwin. The salaries of teachers in three of these kindergartens are being subsidized
by the Government to an amount of £3,883 per annum. Two pre-school kindergarten
scholarships are offered each year to Territory girls to qualify as pre-school teachers.

2. School of the Air.—The “School of the Air” was officially opened by the
Administrator on 8th June, 1951. The school bas an enrolment of 50 pupils, some of
whom live 400 miles from Alice Springs. Five half-hour lessons are given each week
from the studio in the Alice Springs school. A unique feature of this service is that
children are able to converse with their teacher.

The programme of lessons includes stories and songs for the younger children;
number, spelling and language lessons; health talks; appreciation of music and
literature ; social studies and a ““ Question and Answer > session.

3. Native Education.—At 3oth June, 1953, there were 21 special schools for full-
blood aboriginal children. These consisted of seven government schools, thirteen mission
schools and one private school. At these schools 1,110 children were enrolled, and of
this number 820 attended the non-government schools.

New school buildings and residences were erected for the government schools at
Yuendumu and Areyonga and for a new school at Jay Creek. The number of teachers in
government schools then rose to twelve. The education of adult natives has begun at
one centre and has been planned to start at others. The staff, curriculum and supervision
of these schools are under the control of the Commonwealth Office of Education, which
has a Senior Education Officer in the Northern Territory who works in close asso-
ciation with the Native Affairs Branch as, at this stage, the education of full-bloods is
linked more closely with the overall native welfare programme than with the normal
school service. Advisory services by the Commonwealth Office of Education to most
government or mission schools have been extended to include visits from a teacher of
vocational subjects. This work is designed to assist with the preparation of the native
population for vocations in the Northern Territory.

4. Theoretical Training of Apprentices.—The recognition that technical school
training is an extension of workshop training has led to the introduction of day-time
classes which apprentices attend without loss of pay. Apprentices are directed by the
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Apprentices Board to undertake correspondence courses conducted by the Technical
Correspondence School of the South Australian Education Department and the Sydney
Technical School, these courses covering the work prescribed for the various tredes in
South Australia and New South Wales.

§ 9. Native Welfare.

To give effect to the Government’s native welfare policy, a series of measures is
being introduced in the Legislative Council for the Northern Territory.

The Welfare Ordinance, which the Council passed in June, established the principle
that native people would be committed to the care of the State on the grounds of their
need for special care and assistance and not on the grounds of race or colour and it laid
on the Director of Welfare a positive responsibility for the advancement of wards in his
care. The Employment Ordinance provides for the training of wards and assistance in
establishing them in occupations, either on their own account or as employees. The
Ordinance envisages apprenticeships for the better-educated wards and training-on-the-
job for those wards not yet capable of entering into apprenticeships. It also envisages
financial aid to natives or groups of natives who may, under the guidance of the Director,
be able to engage on activities (for example in agriculture, cattle raising, hunting or
fishing) on their own behalf. The Director of Welfare will be responsible for supervising
employment for the wards in his care, and protective legislation for those in employment
is retained. The legislation does not, of course, apply to any persons who are not wards
and it is envisaged that native people who have ceased to be wards will come within the
normal industrial customs of the country.

§ 10. Finance.

Details of revenue and expenditure of the Territory for the years 1948-49 to 1952-53
are shown below :—

NORTHERN TERRITORY : REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE.

(£)
Item. i 1948-49. 1949-50. 1950-51. I951-52, 1952-53.
REVENUE.

Taxation— i | ;
Probate and Stamp Duties .. ,951 7,185, 9,307 6,201 5,565
Motor Registration .. (a ) I (a) (@ | (@ | 11,354
Total .. RN ()] ! (a) (a) ‘ (a) ! 16,919

Business Undertakings— ‘ | ! E |

Railways— ) i [ ‘
North Australia .. .. 28,839 34,8801 38,227, 48,929 42,160
Central Australia. . 679,161 775,845 815,739} 1,241, o5o 1,290,297
Postmaster-General’s Depart- { |

ment .. . .. ‘ 96,424. 118,292 135,218! 166,533 182,788
Electricity Supply .. .. 81,937I 103,177| 119,054 139,572 260,521
Total .. ..\ 886 36:‘ I 032 194] I, 108 238‘ ,596,084; 1,775,769

Other— : ‘ : ‘ '
Rent and Rates .. .. 79937 77,068]  88,307{ 101,263] 115,758
Miscellaneous .. o} 6n723:. 86,523 101,939' 167,536, 177,839

|

Total .. .. ' 132,660/ 163,591{ 190,246’ 268,799! 293,597
Grand Total o 1,023,972§ 1,202,9702 1,307,79x| 1,871,084/ 2,086,282

(a) Not available.
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NORTHERN TERRITORY : REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE-—conlinued.

Total

)
Item. 1948~-49. 1949-50. 1950-51. I 1951-52. 1952-53.
!
ExPENDITURE.
Public Debt Charges— ;
Interest(b) .- . 300,837 331,356 347,934 342,912| 341,285
Debt Redemption(c) 106,848 112,188, 117,794 123,679 120,848
Other .. ‘ 6, 1,406 470! .. 133
Total ' 416,691! 444,950i 466,198|  466,591| 471,266
Business Undertakings— . ‘
Railways— . . .
North Australia .. .1 55,485 74,000  69.324; Q0,066| 114,477
Central Australia. . .. | 656,935 727,689 867,200| 1,178,320| 1,296,618
Postmaster-General’s Department | 115,281 | 123,239 1064,138' 181,003] 165,095
Electricity Supply . ! 121,260° 152,235| 202,560 280,064| 266,614
Water Supply . .. 36,023, 48,771 56,151 71,104
Hostels Loss. . . 30,755 35061 45,259 29,185 42,653
|
T

Social Expenditure—

979,716/ 1,148,337/ 1,397,258; 1,815,779 1,956,561

101,064i 175,094‘ 286,041 278,492

Aboriginal Affairs .. .. ! 70,208!

Educational Services .. | 25700 31,0631  53,718]  75,838| 95,476

Public Health, Recreation and | : ' .

Charitable .. .. 189,232] 250,139. 326,489 389,158| 508,166

Law, Order and Public Safety i 14,734[ 16,540 20,050, 31,357 35,063

¢ | :
Total " .. | 299,874 399,706 575,351| 782,304| 917,197
Capital Works and Services— l

Railways— ’ .

North Australia .. oo 3,511' 21,415 20,105,  20,209| 162,020

Central Australia. . .. 1 37,201] 76,654 5115 133,609 676,208
Postmaster-General’s Department© (@) . (@) 4,924 4,144 8,164
Water Supplies, Roads, Stock ' : :

Routes, ete. . 66,170 58,178 106,082 215,366 174,780
Darwin Lands Acquisition S 118,521 79,790, 112,439 .. 56,209
Buildings, Works, Sites, etc. i 346,489] 477,1981 975,675| 974,058 858,459
Plant and Equipment : 118,374 91,978. 167,1251 91,651 116,707

Total 690,266! 805,213) 1,391,465 1,439,127| 2,052,637
; i —
All Other— [ { ;

Territory Administration .. | 364,962| 486,061 553,047' 520,127 683,711

Developmental Services " 44,3761 56,8220 93,304, 88,170 117,419

Municipal, Sanitary and Gar- . i :

bage Services e 46,9061 57,207| 67,568/ 73,505 88,336

Shipping Subsidy 1,750] 4,767 4,700 3,800 3,800

Airmail Service Subsidy .. ! 10,400 5,200 5,200 11,000

Rent, Repairs and Maintenance, | | :

nei .. .. .. | 126,017| TI4,191  149,588! 125,233) 153,608
Freight Concessions on North |

Australian and Central Aus- ’ |

* tralia Railways ! 203,841 196,339: 296,538 512,678 530,450
' I
Total 788,754 926,687! 1,170,845/ 1,337,773| 1,588,324

Grand Total

3,175,299\ 3,724,893| 5,001,117

5,841,664| 6,985,985

(a) Not available. (b) Includes Railways Tnterest, 1948-49, £203,867; 1949-50, £195.343 ;
1950—51, £193,321; 1951~-52, £189,853; 1952-53, 4
Redemption, 1948-49, £83,974; 1949-50, £88,170; 1950-51, £92,575; Y951-52, £97,199; 1952-53,

£102,044.

£189,432. (¢) Includes Railways Debt
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AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY.

1. Introductory.—Information regarding the selection and establishment of Canberra
ss the Australian capital city, the physiography of the Territory and its early history
will be found in previous issues of the Official Year Book—&See List of Special Articles,
ete., at the end of this volume under Canberra and Federal Capital City.

On 12th March, 1913 the official ceremony to mark the start of operations in con.
nexion with the establishment of the Seat of Government was carried out. At this
ceremony the selection of *“ Canberra ** as the name of the capital city was announced.

On gth May, 1927 Parliament House at Canberra was officially opened by His
Royal Highness Albert, Duke of York—afterwards His Majesty King George VL —the
occasion being the 26th anniversary of the opening of the first Parliament of the Com-
monwealth at Melbourne by His Royal Highness George, Duke of Cornwall and York—
afterwards His Majesty King George V.—on gth May, 1901, (For particulars of the
opening ceremony see Official Year Book No. 21, p. 604.)

The development of the Territory administration prior to the taking over of
control by the Federal Capital Commission on 18t January, 1925 is described in
summarized form in Official Year Book No. 18, and in Official Year Book No. 22
s summary i8 given of the administrative activities of the Federal Capital Commission.
The administration of the Territory by this authority was continued until 30th April,
1930, when the Seat of Government (Administration) Act 1924-1929 was repealed,
and the powers and functions of the Commission reverted to the Government.

Since April, 1932 the general control of the Territory has been exercised by the
Minister for the Interior, certain specific services, however, being undertaken by the
Department of Health, the Department of Works (prior to 1952 the Department of Works
and Housing), and the Attorney-General’s Department.

An amendment to the Seat of Government Acceptance Act in 1938 provides that
the Territory shall be known as the Australian Capital Territory.

2. Progress of Work.—(i) General. The purpose behind all planning and works
undertaken during the financial year 1952—53 has been considered in the light of central-
izing all Departmental Head Offices in Canberra, a movement which is to be accelerated
over the next few years. Therefore it has been necessary to direct the works programme
mainly towards providing houses and office accommodation to cope with the present
heavy demand and to allow for expansion as other Departments are brought to the
National Capital. Concentration on housing projects has made necessary an equivalent
expansion in the engineering services of water supply, sewerage, drainage, roads and
electricity supply to serve new projects.

The increasing population has also required expansion of schools, kindergarten and
community facilities. There has been extensive building construction in the establish-
ment of the Australian National University ; and in connexion with housing and facilities
for the expansion of Defence Services at Duntroon, Fairbairn, Harman and Belconnen.

During 1952~53, the total cost of capital and maintenance works in the Works
programme was £5,593,544.

The average combined labour forces of the Department of Works and contractors
working for the Department during 1952-53 totalled 2,991 men.

(ii) Works Programme. (a) Housing. During 1952-53, 558 dwelling units were
completed (487 built by contract and 71 by day labour), including go brick, 6 brick
veneer, 36 brick flats, 197 timber, and 229 prefabricated (93 Riley Newsum, go Monocrete,
46 Econo-Steel). Of the total units, 216 and 63 respectively, were built in the newly
developed suburbs of O’Connor and Narrabundah, 181 in the longer established but
recently extended suburbs of Ainslie (40) and Yarralumla (141), 15 in the suburb of
_ Turner, 48 in Criffith and 12 in the outlying suburb of Duntroon, the Royal Military
College area. TFive hundred and twelve were built for the Department of the Interior, 17
for the Defence Forces, 16 for War Service Homes and 13 for the Australian National
University. At 3oth June, 1953 there were 535 houses under construction. Private
builders completed 124 houses, four business premises, three blocks of flats and 21 other
structures.
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(b) Other Building. Major projects completed during the year 1952-53 included a
pre-school play centre at 0’Connor; the Physical Science Building at the Australian
National University ; extensions to the Naval Wireless Transmitter at Belconnen ; an
annexe to the National Library comprising six Romney huts and a brick administrative
building ; a Bristol aluminium and brick laboratory at Acton for the Bureau of Mineral
Resources ; the infants’ school at Narrabundah; and a new obstetric block at the
Canberra Community Hospital.

Work on University House was nearing completion and work was commenced on the
Turner infants’ school and site preparations for Griffith infants’ school. Work was also
commenced on the dome for a 74-inch telescope and a building to house the 26-inch Yale
Columbia Telescope at Mt. Stromlo. A new 50-bed ward at Canberra Community
Hospital was commenced for the Department of Health.

Further progress was made on the Central Administrative Block of C.8.1.R.O. at
Black Mountain and the erection of new telephone exchanges at Braddon and Barton
was commenced. )

Further progress was made on the permanent Administrative Building, and about
one-quarter had been completed at 3oth June, 1953. During the year work was con-
centrated mainly on “ A * block.

Additions to Capital Hill and Ainslie Hostels were completed during the year.

Major works were the construction of the apron and taxiway at Canberra Airport
and subdivisional roads in Ainslie and Narrabundah. The Cotter Road and other main
roads were improved.

(¢) Engineering Works and Services. During 1952-53, 35 miles of subdivisional
roads were constructed to serve newly built areas, bringing the length of city roads at
3oth June, 1953 to 196 miles, comprising 3 miles of concrete, 101 miles of bitumen paved

- and 92 miles of gravel; 10 miles of road in the city were sealed. At the same date the
length of city footpaths was 102 miles. Road maintenance work during 1952-53 included
the resealing of 15 miles of city roads and 5 miles of country main roads.

During 1952-53, 56,641 feet: of water mains were laid to reticulate water services
to new houses. At 3oth June, 7953, 6,100 houses and buildings had been connected to
the water supply system. The consumption for 1952-53 was 1,592 million gallons with
an average daily consumption of about 145 gallons per head. The 20-inch feeder mains
to Griffith and O’Connor were major works completed.

During the same period 44,594 feet of sewer mains were laid to connect newly built
houses to the sewerage system and 5,815 houses and buildings had been connected to
the sewerage system by 3oth June, 1953.

Extensions to electricity low-tension supply lines to service newly built houses in
various areas were completed and street lighting provided. Other electrical work included
installation of three kiosk sub-stations at Deakin and Yarralumla.

3. Forestry.—A considerable amount of reafforestation work has been undertaken
and plantations (mainly Pinus radiate) have been established at Uriarra, Mount Stromlo,
Pierce’s Creek, Green Hills and Kowen. Experimental plots have been established in
the Brindabella mountains and soil conservation areas at various locations throughout
the Territory.

The total area of softwood plantations at 3oth June, 1953 was 16,000 acres, of which
14,000 acres werce Pinug radiala, the balance consisting of other softwood species, chiefly
Pinus ponderosa and Pinus laricio.

Forestry operations were begun on Mount Stromlo in 1915. Plantings up to 1925
were chiefly on decorative lines, but since then a much wider programme has been under-
taken. Sawmill timber is now being obtained from the logs resulting from thinning
operations and clear felling of mature plantations. The yearly output of pine timber
has increased from 30,000 super. feet in 1930+31 to approximately 10,000,000 super. feet
at the present time. During 1952-53 the amount actually cut was 19,590,000 super.
feet due to the necessity of converting pine at Mount Stromlo which was killed by fire
in February, 1952. This conversion is now complete and the output has reverted to
normal. The present output consists of approximately 50 per cent. saw log timber
producing building material and 50 per cent. case-making materials.

In 1926 a comprehensive review was undertaken of the Territory’s potentialities
for forest development. A system of forest management was instituted in the existing
forest area, and a considerable amount of survey and assessment work has been completed,
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resulting in the extension of operations, including fire protection, to 100,000 acres of
bardwood forests in the Cotter catchment area. Hardwood timber produced during
the year ended June, 1953 amounted to 3,463,000 super. feet log measure all of which was
used in building operations in Canberra.

4. Lands.—(i) General. Reference has been made in previous issues of the Official
Year Book to the general conditions of land tenure in the Australian Capital Territory
and to the area of alienated and leased land and Chapter IV.—Land Tenure and Settle-
ment of this issue contains statistical information on the subject.

Under the Seat of Government (Administration) Act 1910, Crown lands in the
Territory may not be sold or disposed of for any estate in freehold except in pursuance
of some contract entered into before the commencement of that Act. Leases of land
in the city area are granted under the City Area Leases Ordinance 1936-1951, and leases
of other lands under the Leases Ordinance 1918-1937. Land is also leased for various
purposes in the city area under the Church Lands Leases Ordinance 1924-1932 and
the Leases (Special Purposes) Ordinance 1925-1943, and one lease under the Church of
England Lands Ordinance 1926 has been granted for church purposes.

As considerable portions of the Territory lands are not required in connexion with
the establishment of the city, large areas have been leased under special improvement
conditions in regard to the extermination of noxious weeds and the destruction of rabbits
and other pests. The lands are classified into three grades of agricultural and three
grades of grazing land. Leases may be granted for grazing, fruitgrowing, horticulture,
agriculture or other purposes for a period not exceeding 25 years. The annual rental is
4 per cent. of the assessed value of-the land, including improvements which are the
property of the Crown, plus the amount of rates payable. No person may hold under
lease land of a greater value than £10,000, exclusive of the value of buildings and fences
thereon.

Under the City Area Leases Ordinance 1936-1951 the Government may grant leases
in the city area of any Crown land for business or residential purposes. Such leases may
be issued for a period not exceeding 99 years at a rental equal to 5 per cent. of the
unimproved value of the land, which value is subject to re-appraisement at the expiration
of 20 years, and thereafter every 20 years. A suitable building must be commenced
within 6 months and completed within 12 months unless an extension of time is allowed.

(ii) Jervis Bay Territory. The Commonwealth acquired from the State of New
South Wales sovereign rights over the area comprising about 28 square miles of land
and water at Jervis Bay for possible use as a port in connexion with the Australian
Capital. The Royal Australian Naval College was established in this area on a site
lmown as Captain’s Point, but was removed in 1930 to Flinders Naval Base, Victoria.
Leases have been granted over an area of about 13,000 acres in the Jervis Bay Territory.

5. Transport and Communication.—Canberra is connected with the railway system
of New South Wales at Queanbeyan by a line 43 miles long. This Jine was opened for
goods traffic on 25th May, 1914, and for passenger traffic on 15th October, 1923. The
railway terminus is situated in the suburb of Kingston. A daily passenger service
operates each way between Canberra and Sydney and Canberra and Melbourne.

Two airlines provide several services daily each way on the Sydney-Canberra-
Melbourne route.

Regular motor-coach services link Canberra with towns in New South Wales, Victoria
and South Australia.

There are three radio broadcasting stations in the Australian Capital Territory,
2C0Y and 20N of the national broadeasting system and 2CA, a commercial station.

6. Population.—From 1911 until 1921 the population of the Australian Capital
Territory remained at about 2,000 persons. In 1922 it commenced to rise, and by 1927
was nearing 6,000. The following year, with the transfer of departments from Melbourne,
it passed 8,000. Since then the general trend has been upward.

The census return of population on 3oth June, 1938, was 11,290 in the Australian
Capital Territory and 272 in the Jervis Bay Territory, or a total of 11,562 persons. The
population at the Census of 30th June, 1947, was 16,005 persons—15,156 in the city area,
1,389 in the rural districts and 360 in the Jervis Bay area. A census was taken of the

2233.—4
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city area on 14th-16th September, 1951, the population then being 23,617 persons. At
that time the estimated population of the Australian Capital Territory was 25,400
persons. The population of the Territory at the Census of 3oth June, 1954 was 30,315
persons, and of Canberra, 28,277 persons.

7. Production.—During 1952-53 the production of the more important items of the
agricultural and pastoral industry wags—Wheat, 7,764 bushels; wool, 2,245,000 1b.;
whole milk, 688,000 gallons; butter, 5 tons; meat (bone-in weight, fresh), 2,826 tons.
The numbers of livestock depastured at 31st March, 1954 were—Horses, 831 ; cattle,
9,394 ; sheep, 251,700 ; and pigs, 276. :

8. Education.—Arrangements exist with the New South Wales Education Department
for the administration of education up to and including the secondary level in the
Territory, the expenditure involved being refunded to the State.

There are eleven public schools in the Australian Capital Territory. The largest is
situated at Telopea Park, Barton, with accommodation for 1,200 scholars, Secondary
education is provided at the Canberra High School, Acton, and the Telopea Park Central
School has a secondary department. The High School has accommodation for 450
scholars, and its curriculum provides a standard of education comparable in range of
subjects with that provided at the Government High Schools in New South Wales. The
High School also provides for commercial and junior technical classes, and has an evening
continuation college attached, with commercial, matriculation and other classes.

In addition, there are five private schools in the Territory. These are the Canberra
Grammar School, the Canberra Church of England Girls’ Grammar School, St.
Christopher’s Convent School, St. Patrick’s Convent School and St. Edmund’s Christian
Brothers War Memorial College. St. Patrick’s School provides infants’ and primary
education, St. Edmund’s primary and secondary, while the other three provide infants’,
primary and secondary education.

The Australian Capital Territory Education Ordinance 1937-1952 provides for
bursaries, registration of private schools and compulsory attendance. Three bursaries
were awarded in 1953.

During 1953 classes in English for newcomers to the country were conducted to
assist in their assimilation into the local community.

The Canberra Technical College at Kingston, which is controlled and staffed in a
manner similar to that of the public schools, is provided with modern equipment for
supplementary courses for apprentices and journeymen desirous of improving their
trade qualifications. Tuition is also given in a wide range of professional and vocational
courses for students of building, surveying, accountancy and commercial subjects,
engineering and printing. Special facilities have been established for recreational
as well as instructional purposes in the fields of art, pottery, women’s handicrafts, wood-
work and the like. Provision is also made for the training of ex-service personnel under
the Commonwealth Reconstruction Training Scheme.

The Canberra Nursery School, Acton, which provided pre-school education for
children between the ages of 3 and 5 years, was closed in December, 1952, but eleven
neighbourhood pre-school centres, together with a mobile unit, provide modified nursery
school facilities for children between the ages of 3 and 5 years. Additional centres of
this type are being established.

Education at university level is provided by the Canberra University College, details
of which will be found in Chapter XI.—Education.

An area of about 250 acres has been set aside at Acton, for the Australian National
University. Provision has been made for the University to establish such research schools
as may be thought desirable, including a School of Medical Research, and Research
Schools of Physical Sciences, Social Sciences and Pacific Studies. Further reference to
this University appears in § 8 of Chapter XI.—Education.






